



Flood Alteration of the Raised Bogs in Entlebuch, Switzerland

Justine De Groote djustine@student.ethz.ch 16-738-080

Bachelor's thesis in Natural Sciences and Engineering Bachelor's degree program in Environmental Science ETH Zürich

Supervisor:

Florian Knaus Institute of Terrestrial Ecosystems Department of Environmental Systems Science ETH Zurich, Switzerland

June 14, 2022

Abstract

Peatlands are assumed to have flood attenuating characteristics. Therefore, worldwide efforts are put into the restoration of peatlands. However, some studies show no or even an enhancing effect of peatlands on floodings. In this study, it was investigated how the raised bogs in Entlebuch, Switzerland alter floods. The water tables were measured over two years and compared to weather parameters. The results show that the water table of the raised bogs react on temperature, amount of dry days in a row and precipitation of the previous day. Degradation and environmental factors, such as topography and vegetation coverage, influenced the water household and therefore the flood altering effect of the bogs. In Entlebuch, most factors discovered had a negative effect on floods. It was often the case that the antecedent water tables were too high and caused too little space in the soil to take up all the precipitation. It was assumed that that could have caused saturation-excess overland flow. Because heavy precipitation events will increase with climate change, it is of high importance to gain more knowledge about the different types of discharge and their occurrence in Entlebuch, and how they influence the downstream flow of water. iv

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Florian Knaus for his support during the whole process, which includes his help with the analysis of the data, the understanding of the results and sharing valuable information and knowledge. Additionally, I would like to thank my family and friends for their emotional as well as technical support.

Contents

29

1	Intr	roduction				
2	Bac	Background Knowledge				
	2.1	Terminology: peatlands, raised bogs and fens	3			
	2.2	Composition	3			
	2.3	Hydrology	4			
	2.4	Anthropogenic transformation	6			
3	Met	chods	7			
	3.1	Study sites	7			
	3.2	Data analysis	8			
4	\mathbf{Res}	ults	11			
	4.1	Weather conditions and water tables	11			
		4.1.1 Course over time	11			
		4.1.2 Water table summary	13			
		4.1.3 Change of water table per day	14			
	4.2	Precipitation events	15			
		4.2.1 Was there enough space for the precipitation?	15			
		4.2.2 Water table change with precipitation	17			
		4.2.3 Length of precipitation period	18			
	4.3	Water release	19			
5	Disc	cussion	21			
	5.1	Water table course	21			
	5.2	Precipitation events	24			
		5.2.1 Enough space	24			
		5.2.2 Water table change with precipitation	24			
	5.3	Water release	26			
	5.4	Future research	26			
	5.5	Data limitation	27			

6 Conclusion

Bibliography

Α	Appendix		
	A.1	Declaration of originality	A-1
	A.2	Linear Mixed-Effects Model	A-2

Abbreviations and Acronyms

d_i	day i
d_{i-1}	day before i
d_{i-2}	2 days before i
d_{i-3}	3 days before i
ha	Hectare
K	hydraulic conductivity
K_v	vertical hydraulic conductivity
K_h	horizontal hydraulic conductivity
LME	Linear Mixed Effects Model
m.a.s.l.	meters above sea level
n	porosity

х

Wetlands are important ecosystems and, according to the UN, they have ecosystem services such as flood control, water purification, drought buffer and groundwater re- and discharge that is all crucial to humans [UN, n.d.]. Not only are wetlands important for the water household but also for carbon storage, and they are home to a unique biodiversity [IPS, 2010; UN, n.d.]. It is considered that wetlands 'act like a sponge', meaning that they absorb water during rainfall and release it when it is dry [Acreman and Holden, 2013; Brotherton, 2021]. They alter downstream water flow with collecting water in the soil, and with altering the runoff pathways they reduce the runoff speed [Wetlands International, n.d.]. This results in a delayed the peak flow, reduced peak or reduced the water volume [Brotherton, 2021; Acreman and Holden, 2013; Cooley, 2015]. The absorption of the water reduces the intensity and frequency of floods, and so the damage caused by floods can be reduced [Cooley, 2015]. This is especially an advantage during periods of heavy rainfall [Brotherton, 2021], which are increasing in frequency with climate change [Tabari, 2020].

Due to human interference, wetlands are being destroyed and degraded [UN, n.d.]. They are disappearing three times faster than forests, and are one of the most threatened ecosystems on Earth, with a loss of 35% since 1970 worldwide [UN, n.d.], and only in Switzerland almost 90% is degraded [BAFUb, 2017]. The reasons for their disappearance are for example drainage to gain agricultural land, pollution, and climate change [UN, n.d.]. Peat is also extracted and used for gardening and horticulture because of its fertilizing effects [Charman, 2009]. Because wetlands are part of the nature-based solutions against floods [Brotherton, 2021], they are promoted through organizations like IUCN, Wetlands International, and the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of International Importance to be protected and restored [Acreman and Holden, 2013].

However, the term wetland includes many different types of ecosystems [UN, n.d.; Acreman and Holden, 2013]. Bullock and Acreman [2003] investigated the function of those different types of wetlands and their influence on floods. Their research showed that there are clear examples of wetlands that reduce floods, however, there is little support for a general conclusion [Bullock and Acreman, 2003]. Some types of wetlands attenuate floods, some have no impact, and some even increase flood risk [Bullock and Acreman, 2003]. Depending on environmental factors or season of the year, some types of wetlands can have inverse effects on floods [Bullock and Acreman, 2003]. An essential factor in reducing floods is a low enough water table in the soil to have the capacity to absorb and store the precipitation fast enough [Acreman and Holden, 2013]. This is in contrast with the high water tables in wetlands, since they are classified in the highest category according to the WRAP classification [Acreman and Holden, 2013]. However, raised bogs are considered to have a low water table for being a wetland because of the lack of connection to the ground water [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. This could benefit their effect on floods.

In this study, the focus is on the raised bogs in UNESCO Biosphere Reserve Entlebuch, Switzerland. A previous study carried out in the same study area by Marty [2021] investigated that the raised bogs took up water in case of precipitation. The water table rose quickly, whereas the release of water was slow [Marty, 2021]. Factors that influenced the extent of the water table rise were precipitation and the antecedent water table, of which the first one had a positive and the latter a negative impact [Marty, 2021].

The knowledge gained by Marty [2021] will be used to build up a better understanding

of water household of the raised bogs in Entlebuch. It is of high importance to gain a better understanding of the function of the raised bogs in Entlebuch, because also the Swiss government asserts the sponge effect of raised bogs [BUWAL, 2002]. They highlight their flood attenuation and the reduced risk of flood consequences [BUWAL, 2002]. This statement in combination with the examined varying effects of wetlands on floods by Acreman and Holden [2013] led to the aim of this study. It should be investigated if the raised bogs in the UNESCO Biosphere Reserve Entlebuch act like a sponge, and therefore absorb water during precipitation events and release it delayed to attenuate runoff peaks. To answer this question, four specific questions were asked:

- 1. How high are water tables in raised bogs in Entlebuch generally?
- 2. What happens in case of precipitation to the water table?
- 3. When do the raised bogs release water?
- 4. How does the state of a raised bog influence the answers of the previous question?

For all research questions, a hypothesis was made based on literature. The enumeration follows the research questions.

- 1. The raised bogs have generally a high water table of about 5 cm below the surface with deviations up to 30 cm below the surface [Acreman and Holden, 2013; Daniels et al., 2008; Breeuwer et al., 2009; Romanov, 1968].
- 2. Precipitation will be taken up by the raised bogs [Marty, 2021]. But because of a general high water table [Acreman and Holden, 2013], there will not be enough space to take up all the water in cases of heavy rain events.
- 3. The raised bogs release water continuously through evapotranspiration and outflow, and when precipitation was high enough also through overland flow [Oosterwoud et al., 2017; Evans et al., 1999].
- 4. Degraded bogs will have a lower water table [Acreman and Holden, 2013] with higher water table fluctuations [Menberu et al., 2016].

To answer the research questions, the water tables of different raised bogs are analyzed over two years, which will allow the analysis of the storage processes [Acreman and Holden, 2013]. Additionally, weather data will be used to assess the influence of weather parameters on the water tables. The answering of the last research question will be done while answering the other questions to reduce redundancy. In this chapter, essential background information about raised bogs is summarized to give a better understanding of the results and discussion. First, raised bogs will be delimited from other types of peatlands. After that, the structure and function of raised bogs are described, followed by the hydrology of raised bogs. In the last part, different types of anthropogenic transformations and their are illustrated.

2.1 Terminology: peatlands, raised bogs and fens

The International Peatland Society defines peatlands as an ecosystem that is water saturated, and therefore consists of poorly decomposed plant material [IPS, n.d.]. Organic matter builds up faster than it decomposes, which leads to its accumulation [IPS, n.d.]. This accumulation of organic matter in a wet and oxygen-poor environment is the so-called peat [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013], which is the typical layer of a peatland.

Different peatlands have different ecological factors, like nutrient and moisture conditions, which influences the peat's characteristics [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. This leads to different types of peatlands like bogs, fens, swamps or marshes.

Raised bogs are a type of peatland with a thick layer of peat [EPA, n.d.]. They are typically dome-shaped with the highest layer separated from the ground-water level [BUWAL, 2002]. The disconnection of the groundwater has several consequences for the ecological conditions. First, precipitation is the only water source, therefore they are also called ombrogenous bogs [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Because there is no groundwater that saturates the peat, the water table varies more than in other peatlands [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Secondly, precipitation is the only source of nutrients in a raised bog, making the raised bogs ombrotrophic [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Consequently, there is a low nutrient concentration in raised bogs [EPA, n.d.].

Next to raised bogs, fens are also a type of wetland [EPA, n.d.]. In contrast to bogs, the upper layer of fens is connected to the groundwater, so they have their water and nutrient supply not only from precipitation [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. They are mostly saturated with water, so the water table is just below, or even slightly above the surface [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. They are less acidic and have a higher nutrient content, which leads to a higher plant diversity compared to bogs [EPA, n.d.]. Over time, the accumulation of peat in a fen leads to the elevation of the surface, which at some can disconnect the surface layer from the ground water and makes the fen a bog [Küchler, 2018]

2.2 Composition

Raised bogs are mainly covered by Sphagnum moss [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. It is a bryophyte that is adapted to extreme conditions: high acidity, cold, low nutrients, and waterlogged soils. The survival of the moss highly depends on the position of the water table [Menberu et al., 2016]. A small shift of the water table can have significant consequences for Sphagnum, and therefore the plant composition in general [Menberu et al., 2016]. In the tip, the Sphagnum keeps on growing, while the lower parts of the moss dies [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. The higher growth than decomposition rate leads to a rise of the surface of 1mm per year [SWO, n.d.].

This rise of the surface led to the disconnection of the upper layer of the peat of the ground water and the consequently high variation of the water table. This upper part, where the water table fluctuates, is called the acrotelm and is limited to the lowest water table [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. The fluctuating water table allows air to enter the pores and provides organisms, like the peat vegetation, bacteria, and fungi, with oxygen [Evans and Warburton, 2010]. That is why the acrotelm is also called the 'active' layer [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. The acrotelm typically has a depth of 5 up to 50 cm [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Under the acrotelm is the permanently water saturated peat, the so- called catotelm [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. The constant water saturation makes this layer anoxic [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. The peat here is humified and darker than in the acrotelm [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. The largest volume of the peat is taken up by the catotelm [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013].

2.3 Hydrology

Precipitation is the only factor that rises the water table in raised bogs, while water table lowering factors are evapotranspiration and outflow on the surface or through the peat in lateral direction or as seepage to the groundwater [Keane and Daly, 1994]. This leads to the following equation of the water balance of a raised bog [Price and Maloney, 1994; Acreman and Holden, 2013]:

$$\Delta S = P - ET - Q$$

 ΔS : change in storage, P: precipitation, ET: evapotranspiration, Q: outflow

The difference between precipitation, and evapotranspiration and outflow causes a change in water storage [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. If precipitation is higher, the water table will rise, and if the water table lowering factors dominate, the water table will sink. Of the water table lowering factors, evapotranspiration is by far the most dominant factor [Price and Maloney, 1994].

This change in dominance of in- and outflow causes a change in water storage, and therefore a change in water table height. Water tables of raised bogs have annual fluctuations and remain mostly close to the surface, roughly 5 cm below the surface [Holden and Burt, 2003a; Evans et al., 1999; Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. During dry periods, the water table can go down to 30 cm below the surface [Daniels et al., 2008; Breeuwer et al., 2009; Romanov, 1968] and in very extreme dry years, Romanov [1968] measured water tables of 55 cm below the surface. For peatlands, it is normal to have water tables above the surface, and Daniels et al. [2008] found water tables of up to 5 cm above the surface. The height of the water table depends on the location in the bog [Howie and van Meerveld, 2012]. Towards the margins of a bog, the water table is in general lower and fluctuates more [Howie and van Meerveld, 2012].

Water is stored in the void of the peat. The deeper in the peat, the more humified the organic matter, and therefore the smaller the pores [Quinton et al., 2000]. Pores that are interconnected and large enough contribute to water flow in the peat and are therefore called active pores [Hoag and Price, 1997; Quinton et al., 2008]. In a study performed by Quinton et al. [2008], in the upper 10 cm of the peat the active porosity was 0.47 - 0.69, and therefore higher than in the lower part (0.38 - 0.58).

How smooth the water flows through the pores is summarized in the hydraulic conductivity (K) of the peat, which mainly depends on the degree of humification [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. High humification leads to dense peat and therefore less large, active pores [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. The lower in the peat, the higher the humification, and therefore the lower K [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. This vertical gradient of K leads to a vertical gradient of speed in lateral water movement with the highest flux on top of the water table [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Water does not only flow in the lateral direction but also vertically. However, vertical hydraulic conductivity (K_v) is vastly smaller compared to horizontal hydraulic conductivity (K_h) $(K_h >> K_v)$, indicating that peat in raised bogs is anisotropic [Beckwith et al., 2003]. Lateral and vertical water flow can lead to outflow of the raised bog. The ways of outflow are enumerated in the following list and depicted in Fig. 2.1 [Exler, 2015, and references therein]:

- Saturation-excess overland flow If the soil is completely saturated, precipitation cannot be taken up anymore [Holden and Burt, 2003a]. In studies by Holden and Burt [2003a,b], where runoff production was investigated in a blanket peat, it was found out that 80% of the runoff was due to saturation-excess overland flow [Holden and Burt, 2003a,b].
- Infiltration-excess overland flow If rainfall intensity is greater than the infiltration rate in the soil, water runs off on the surface [Holden and Burt, 2003a]. This is often the case for soils with low infiltration capacity [Holden and Burt, 2003a].
- Subsurface flow Water also flows below the surface in the pores of the peat [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Water flow in macropores, made by roots of plants or cracks, is faster than in micorpores, made by the peat matrix [Beven and Germann, 1982]. The increasing K_h in depth induces the highest water flux on top of the water table [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Compared to overland flow, the water flux in the pores is much slower [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013].
- **Pipeflow** Soil pipes are regarded to have a diameter of at least 1 cm [Holden, 2009]. According to Holden and Burt [2002], 10% of discharge runs off in soil pipes.
- **Seepage** Seepage highly depends on K_h , which is very low in the catotelm peat [Exler, 2015]. It is only 1% of the discharge of ombrotrophic bogs that runs off through seepage [Damman, 1986].



Figure 2.1: Overview of the two layers of the peat an the water balance components.

The discharge possibilities enumerated above should not be considered as separate phenomena [Exler, 2015; McDonnell, 2003]. Moreover, they are all well connected with surface water that infiltrates in the peat or water in the peat that goes back to the surface [Exler, 2015; McDonnell, 2003]. How much runs off and how much the different types contribute to runoff is highly influenced by the water table height [Daniels et al., 2008]. For example, a high discharge never occurs with a low water table [Emili and Price, 2006; Evans et al., 1999], or a high water table causes fast saturation of the soil and leads to saturation-excess overland flow [Evans et al., 1999].

When it rains, water goes in the peat and flows there laterally and vertically. Because of the low K, the flux is way slower compared to water on the surface. This low flux releases the water delayed in the stream and should alter downstream floods with a delayed peak flow and lower peak [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013; Keane and Daly, 1994; Gao et al., 2018]. Because water tables in wetlands are generally high, there is not much space left to take up precipitation [Gao et al., 2018]. After saturation, water runs off on the surface, where it flows much faster [Gao et al., 2018; Keane and Daly, 1994]. This overland flow causes a higher peak flow and a shorter lag time compared to the subsurface flow, but can be reduced by dense vegetation cover on the raised bog [Evans et al., 1999; Grayson et al., 2010; Gao et al., 2018].

2.4 Anthropogenic transformation

Even though peatlands have many valuable ecosystem services, their importance to humans is underrated [UNEPa, 2021]. In the past, many peatlands were destroyed and barely restored, which led to a present degradation of more than 25% of European's peatlands [UNEPb, 2021]. Drainage ditches were dug, so the water could run off, and the water table was artificially lowered to gain agricultural land or peat [Menberu et al., 2016]. Lowering the water table with drainage ditches has multiple consequences for the ecosystem. The lower water table cause more available space in the soil to take up water [Menberu et al., 2016]. The water storage capacity increase, but the drainage ditches also led to a faster runoff [Menberu et al., 2016]. This increased runoff is seen downstream with an increased peak flow [Acreman and Holden, 2013; Menberu et al., 2016]. Overall, the water table will fluctuate more, and consequently the water household of the raised bog will change [Menberu et al., 2016; Szajdak et al., 2020]. This change will also affect the main peat builder *Sphagnum*. It is very susceptible to high water table fluctuations and droughts [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013; Szajdak et al., 2020]. The changing water household has an immense impact on Sphagnum and therefore the plant composition, and biodiversity in general of the raised bog [Szajdak et al., 2020; Menberu et al., 2016].

However, in the more recent past, efforts have been put into the restoration of these valuable ecosystems. Drainage ditches have been blocked, so the water could not run off in the ditches [Menberu et al., 2016]. Consequently, the water tables rose and more favorable hydrological conditions were gained [Menberu et al., 2016]. These conditions include higher water tables and lower fluctuations. Water is stored again and runoff is reduced. This is seen in smaller down stream peaks and reduced flooding risk. However, restoration of a raised bog can take several years and some changes can be irreversible due to degradation [Menberu et al., 2016].

Besides drainage, raised bogs were also used for pastures [Von Wyl et al., 1995]. Cattle trampled the sensitive moss and destroy it [Von Wyl et al., 1995], This destruction led to changes in the water household of the soil and caused erosion [Von Wyl et al., 1995]. Pasturing of cows on raised bogs can lead to the complete destruction of the peat [Von Wyl et al., 1995].

3.1 Study sites

The data for this study was collected in the UNESCO Biosphere Reserve Entlebuch in Switzerland (centre of the Biosphere is located at 46°57'N, 8°01'E, 733 m.a.s.l.). The biosphere has a mean annual temperature of +5.7 °C, an average yearly rainfall of 1717 mm and 148.6 days of precipitation [MeteoSchweiz, 2022]. The eleven piezometer were located in the raised bogs «Salwidili» (federal inventory No. 313), «Juchmoos» (federal inventory No. 400) and «Zwischen Glaubenberg und Rossalp» (federal inventory No. 257, hereinafter "Rossalp") [BAFUa, 2017]. A detailed map of the raised bogs and the weather station is shown in Fig. 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Small map: Location of the study site in Switzerland. Large map: Detailed locations of the sites and weather station in the UNESCO Biosphere Reserve Entlebuch [Swisstopo, 2022].

Juchmoos

The site Juchmoos is 1.50 ha large and is located 1040 m.a.s.l. [BAFUa, 2017]. The bog has been drained in the 1950s resulting in a large and deep drainage channel accompanied by a few smaller ones leading in to the large channel or running parallel to it. The four piezometers have been placed in a transect perpendicularly to the drainage channel: J1 is situated furthest away from the channel in the most intact part of the bog with an open vegetation but with *Frangula alnus* indicating disturbed hydrological properties. J2 is placed closer to the ditch in a vegetation transition zone that contains much more tree cover. J3 is placed just next to the large drainage ditch. J4 is placed at the start of the channel, very close to it but closer to agriculturally managed fens. The last piezometer was placed there in order to follow up the water table changes after the peatland restoration that took place after the study period of this study. Today, the bog is located in a pine forests (*Pinus montana*) with bilberry shrubs. Juchmoos was considered as a degraded bog [Knaus, 2022; BAFUa, 2017].

Rossalp

The second raised bog Rossalp has an area of 5.32 ha and is located 1520 m.a.s.l. [BAFUa, 2017]. In the past, cattle trampled the bog over decades before it was protected for conservation. As a consequence, the acrotelm and peat mosses are completely missing in most of the bog. The piezometers are placed as follows: R1 is situated next to a small natural channel that drains the eastern section of the bog. R2 stands close to a small water body within the bog from which end water drains towards the adjacent hill slope. R3 is situated in a large flat part of the bog where natural regrowth of peat mosses has started. The bog Rossalp was considered as degraded [Knaus, 2022; BAFUa, 2017].

Salwidili

The raised bog Salwidili has a size of 1.39 ha and is located 1330 m.a.s.l. [BAFUa, 2017]. There were four piezometers (S1 to S4) that measured the water table at different micro-sites: S1 is placed at the center of the bog, S2 at the north edge, where the acrotelm is partly missing, and peat is dense, most likely because of former cow trampling. S3 is standing in the vicinity of a forest edge, dominated by spruce (*Picea abies*), and is having a stronger cover of *Molinia caerulea*, indicating stronger water table fluctuations. S4 is placed next to a larger open water body within the bog. The bog was considered as non-degraded [Knaus, 2022; BAFUa, 2017].

Weather station

The weather data was taken from the weather station Flühli $(8^{\circ}01'/46^{\circ}53')$. It was located 939 m.a.s.l. and had a distance between 6.92 km and 8.61 km to the sites Swisstopo [2022].

3.2 Data analysis

The piezometers measured the water table automatically every hour from October 2019 until September 2020 for Rossalp, and until September 2021 for the other two sites. Because snow could have influenced the water table measurements, the periods with snow cover were excluded. It remained the period of May, 1 until September, 30. The weather data was taken from MeteoSwiss. To examine the function of the raised bogs, the data was transformed from hourly to daily, because an accuracy of an hour was too detailed to answer the research question.

To answer the research questions, it is first looked into the hydrographs of the piezometers. This allows it to make statements about the general water tables and their fluctuations. Additionally, the influencing weather factors on the water tables are investigated in a Linear Mixed Effects Model (LME). To answer the second research question, occurred precipitation events are used to compare the amount of precipitation, and the therefore needed space in the soil, with the available space in the soil. Previous events are used to represent the occurring combinations of available and needed space in the soil. This comparison allows to figure out if there was enough space in the soil for different amounts of precipitation. Additionally, the water table change is compared to the amount of precipitation and the therefore expected rise of water table. On this basis it is concluded if the raised bogs took up more water and acted like a sponge, or if runoff occurred. Finally, the water table change was compared to the length of dry and wet periods to investigate the water table change over time with the precipitation conditions. This was done in raised bogs that were considered as degraded and non-degraded to examine the influence of the state of the bog on all questions.

In the first step, variables were calculated with the given data of the piezometer and weather stations to do the further analysis. This resulted in the following variables, with day i (d_i) and day before i (d_{i-1}) :

Site Raised bog Salwidili (S), Juchmoos (J) or Rossalp (R).

Piezometer Water table measuring tubes in the soil, 3 to 4 per site.

Water table Average per day; in cm above surface.

Precipitation Sum of d_i ; in mm.

Temperature Average of day d_i ; in °C.

- **Porosity** Abbr. n; the porosity of the peat was unknown, so an assumption had to be made. According to Quinton et al. [2008], the active porosity of the near surface peat is between 0.47 and 0.69. To have one number for the calculations, the average 0.53 was used.
- Water table change Change of water table of d_i compared to d_{i-1} (water table d_i water table d_{i-1}); in cm.
- Expected rise of water table When the soil takes up precipitation, the water table rises. Because precipitation runs only in the pores between the solid material, the water table rises more in height than the meteorological measured amount of precipitation. How much the water table rises depends on the porosity of the soil, a small porosity leads to a higher rise of the water table than larger pores. The expected rise of water table represents the water table change expected for the precipitation of d_{i-1} and is calculated by precipitation d_{i-1} , porosity of the soil and a conversion factor to convert the precipitation from millimeter to cm (precipitation $d_{i-1}/(10*n)$); in cm.
- Available space The available space in the soil to take up precipitation is defined by the difference between the surface and the water table at a specific time; in cm.
- **Enough space** The available space of d_{i-1} was compared to the amount of precipitation at d_i . If the available space was larger than the amount of precipitation needed, there was enough space. If the available space was smaller than the precipitation needed, there was not enough space.

Amount of dry / wet days in row Every day was defined as dry (no precipitation) or wet (with precipitation). This variable counts the days in a row before d_i with the same precipitation state. If there was no precipitation on d_i , the dry days in a row up to that day were counted. If there was precipitation on d_i , the same was done, but for wet days. For example, if it rained five days in a row, day number four gets for the variable «Amount of wet days in a row» a «4» and day number five gets «5».

The statistical analysis was done with R (version 4.1.3) with the packages ggplot2 and nlme. To examine which factors influence the water table of a raised bog, a Linear Mixed-Effects Model (LME) was made. Water table was the dependent variable, and the variables precipitation of that day and up to three days before $(d_i, d_{i-1}, d_{i-2}, d_{i-3})$, temperature and amount of dry and wet days in a row were the explanatory variables. The piezometers were defined to have as random effect on the water table. To make the subsequent processes easier applicable, the precipitation event with the strongest influence would be picked to continue the following calculations.

Because the water table of d_{i-1} influenced the water table of d_i , the data was not independent [Knaus, 2022]. To have an independent data set, 300 measurements (approx. 10% of the whole data set) were picked randomly by R [Knaus, 2022]. The LME was executed with those 300 random measurements. The whole process of picking 300 random measurements and calculating the LME with them was done 50 times. To summarize the 50 LMEs, the average of the estimated influencing values, p-values and standard deviations were calculated for all explanatory variables and put in a table. A level of significance of 0.05 was used.

4.1 Weather conditions and water tables

4.1.1 Course over time

Measurements were recorded at the weather station Flühli from May 1, 2020 to September 30, 2020 and May 1, 2021 to September 10, 2021, representing the local climate. During the study period, the average air temperature comprised 16.1°C with a maximum of 26.8°C on July 31, 2022, and a minimum of 3.3°C on May 12, 2020 (Fig. 4.1). The precipitation total during the study period comprised of 837.3mm in 2020, and 1021.4mm in 2021. The highest recorded rainfall was 52.9mm on July 8, 2021.

The water tables fluctuated strongly in every piezometer in the observation periods between May and September (Fig. 4.1). Fluctuations comprised both water tables above (maximum 10.4 cm) and below (maximum -42.9 cm) the surface. Fluctuations of the water tables at the different piezometers were parallel, and from the illustration it becomes clear that rain events generally lead to water table increases.

Of all examined influencing factors, «amount of dry days in a row» had the strongest influence (Fig. 4.1). Its negative correlation signifies that the longer the dry period, the lower the water table in the end. «Temperature» was the second strongest factor predicting the water table, indicating that the warmer the day, the lower the water table. Of the precipitation factors, the strongest influence was precipitation d_{i-1} . Precipitation of two and three days before also had a significant impact on the water table in contrast to the precipitation of that day.

The model assumptions of a LME were tested with a QQ-Plot and a Tukey Ascomb Plot (App. A.2). Both plots show a normal distribution, therefore the model assumptions were fulfilled.

Factor	Estimate	SD
Intercept	-5.46	2.82
Precipitation d_i	0.03	0.03
Precipitation d_{i-1}	0.10***	0.03
Precipitation d_{i-2}	0.08^{*}	0.02
Precipitation d_{i-3}	0.09^{***}	0.02
Temperature	-0.23***	0.06
Dry days in a row	-0.46*	0.13
Days of precipitation in a row	0.09	0.10

Table 4.1: Summary of LMEs. The investigated factors with their estimated influencing value (Estimate) and its standard deviation (SD). * P < 0.05; *** P < 0.001.



Figure 4.1: Precipitation (in mm), temperature (in °C) and water tables (in cm) over time during the study period. The water tables are sorted by site. The dashed lines mark the transitions between the months, the black solid line marks the transition between the years.

4.1.2 Water table summary

The average water table differed considerably between the different piezometers, both within and between the bogs (Fig. 4.2). The highest average water table was +0.01 cm at piezometer S4, located next to the large open water body. The second piezometer next to an open water body, R2, also had a relatively high average water table of -3.6 cm. Both of them showed a relatively medium to low difference between their highest and lowest water table (19.7 an 22.1 cm resp.). The lowest water table (on average -26.3 cm) was measured at J3, a piezometer next to a water channel, which also showed the third highest water table variation of 24.5 cm. Piezometer R1 is also next to a ditch and had a low water table (-8.1 cm) with high variations (30.4 cm), compared to the other piezometers at Rossalp. Additionally, piezometer J4 is also close to the drainage ditch but is influenced by the agricultural used fen. Its water table is relatively low compared to all the piezometers (-12.3 cm) and, also had high variation in its water table (-23.2 cm) between its maximum and minimum water table. The largest variation of the water table was 33 cm (average water table at -8.1 cm) measured at S3, the piezometer close to the forest. The second piezometer covered by woody plants was J2. The average water table was also low (-18.4 cm), but in contrary to S3 the water table variation was low (14.4 cm). The most stable water table with a variation of 5 cm and an average water table of -2 cm below the surface was at R3, the piezometer with the recovering acrotelm.

For the site Juchmoos, the average water table differed the most between the different piezometers. The further away from the drainage channel (J3 close to the channel, J2 in the middle, and J1 the furthest away), the higher the water table. For the other sites, the difference between the piezometer was not that high. At Salwidili, all piezometers had a similar water table average around 0 cm, except for S3, the site closest to the forest. The piezometer at the edge of the bog, S2, had a smaller variation of the water table compared to the piezometer in the centre of the bog, S1.



Figure 4.2: Box plots of the water tables of the different piezometers colored by the site.

14

4.1.3 Change of water table per day

How much the water table changed in one day differed between the piezometers (Fig. 4.3). The majority of water table changes lay within +3.5 and -4.3 cm, however, there were strong outliers in the positive direction. Changes per day had a larger extent in positive direction, indicating that the bogs could generally take up more water during one day than they could release in a day. The piezometer closest to the channel at Juchmoos, J3, had the highest water table change on one day of 20.1 cm. Likewise, R1 is also located next to a ditch and had very high water uptakes per day (maximum of 17.4 cm). It in addition, R1 had the largest reduction of the water table on one day, namely -6.3 cm. Also J3 and J4, two piezometer close to a drainage ditch, had medium to high releases of water per day (-4.1 and -3.0 cm resp.). The combination of the high water uptake and release per day gave J3 and R1 the highest range of water table changes per day (24.2 and 23.7 cm resp.).

It was R3, the piezometer with the regrowing moss, that had the smallest difference between the most negative and the most positive water table change per day of 1.6 cm. The second smallest water table range (6.5 cm) had J2, the piezometer with the second largest distance to the drainage ditch and the coverage of bilberry shrubs and pine trees. At Salwidili, it was S3, located close to the forest, with the largest difference in water table change per day of 20.1 cm. The piezometer at Salwidili that changed the least per day was S4, close to the open water, with a range between the most negative and most positive water table change per day of 9.6 cm. It was also R2 that was situated next to an open water body, but, in contrary to S4, it had a large range of water table changes per day, namely 19.9 cm. Piezometer S2 at the edge of the bog had smaller water table changes compared to piezometer S1 in the centre.



Figure 4.3: Box plots of the water table change per day of the different piezometers colored by the site.

4.2 Precipitation events

4.2.1 Was there enough space for the precipitation?

For all sites, there were precipitation events, where there was not enough space in the soil to take up the precipitation (Fig. 4.4), which was calculated with the porosity of the soil. For Juchmoos, this accounted for 8% of the precipitation events, for Rossalp it was in 53% of the cases and for Salwidili 69%. Not-enough-space-events occurred for all amounts of precipitation (Fig. 4.5), but for the smaller precipitation amounts they only appeared for Rossalp and Salwidili, not Juchmoos.



Figure 4.4: Dots mark precipitation events with on the x-axis the expected rise of water table of the rain for d_{i-1} , and on the y-axis the available space in the soil at the precipitation event. The black line marks the function y = -x, all the dots on this line mean that at that precipitation event, the needed space for the precipitation in the soil was equal to the available space. Dots above this line in blue represent events where the available space was larger than the expected rise, so there was enough space to take up the precipitation. Dots below the line in red mark not-enough-space-events with not enough space in the soil to take up the precipitation.

Figure 4.5 (right): Frequency of the different amounts of precipitation (A) and frequency of the not-enough-spaceevents for the different amounts of precipitation (B).

Figure 4.6 (bottom): Comparison of the expected rise of water table for precipitation d_{i-1} and the effective water table change. The black line marks the function y = x, dots on this line mark a change of water table that corresponds exactly to the expected rise of water table for precipitation d_{i-1} . Dots above this line mark events where the soil took up more water than expected. Dots under the black line mark events where the water table rose less than expected. The color of the points indicates if there was enough space for the precipitation d_{i-1} .





4.2.2 Water table change with precipitation

For all sites, there were events where the water table rose more than the precipitation d_{i-1} was expected to cause (Fig. 4.6). This was also the case when there was not enough space in the soil to take up the water (red dots above the black line). In total, the water table rose more than expected in 26% of the precipitation events for Juchmoos, for Rossalp 22%, and Salwidili 25%. These events mostly took place with low precipitation. On the contrary, there were also precipitation events were the water table rose less than expected, even though there was enough space (in Fig. 4.6 the blue dots under the black line). This was the case for 67% of the precipitation events in Juchmoos, 36% in Rossalp, and 20% in Salwidili. This occurred for little as well as large amounts of precipitation (Fig. 4.5). It is shown that for little precipitation, there was mostly enough space available, whereas for the larger amount of precipitation it was more the case that there was not enough space.



Figure 4.7: If the water table rose less than the expected for the precipitation d_{i-1} , the event is counted in this histogram. The events are sorted by the expected rise of the water table on the x-axis and the colors indicate if there was enough space in the soil.

4.2.3 Length of precipitation period

Independent from the amount of wet days in a row, the water tables could always sink, even though it rained (Fig. 4.8). There is a clear shift of the water table changes in positive direction at the second and third day, visualizing the delayed effect of precipitation on the water table calculated in the LME (Chpt. 4.1.1). The longer the precipitation period, the smaller was the variation of water table change.



Figure 4.8: The change of water table is shown depending on the amount of wet days in a row. The different sites have different colors and are depicted slightly next to each other to avoid overlay.

4.3 Water release

Temperature and amount of dry days in a row had a negative effect on the water table, indicating that the warmer the air and the longer without precipitation, the lower the water table was. The effect of the amount of dry days in a row is shown in Fig. 4.9. The first day without precipitation could still have had a positive change of water table (Fig. 4.9). This matches the model of Chapter 4.1.1, which shows the influence of the precipitation of d_{i-1} on the water table. After the first dry day, the change of water table was mostly negative, and the later in a dry period the less the water table changed, similar to days with precipitation. This was the case for all sites.



Figure 4.9: The change of water table is shown depending on the amount of dry days in a row. The sites have different colors and are slightly next to each other to avoid overlay.

5.1 Water table course

The water tables of all piezometers fluctuated and showed rises, which indicate recharges caused by precipitation, and recessions, which were a combination of outflow and evapotranspiration [Menberu et al., 2016]. The piezometers of the sites fluctuated similarly and reacted alike to the weather conditions, which is also observed in the previous study in Entlebuch [Marty, 2021]. This parallel fluctuation is also shown in studies by Słowińska et al. [2010] and Zarzycki et al. [2020]. Small dissimilarities between the piezometer can be explained by the effect of microhabitats [Wieder and Vitt, 2014]. Factors like vegetation, hydrology and topography influence the extremely local climate, the so-called microclimate [Wieder and Vitt, 2014; Davis et al., 2019]. This microclimate has a significant impact on the water table and its fluctuations [Zarzycki et al., 2020; Davis et al., 2019]. In addition to the microclimate, the porosity varied between the different sites [Knaus, 2022]. Because porosity influences hydraulic conductivity, the hydraulic conductivity differed as well for the sites. Therefore, water flow, and with that reand discharge of the water tables, occurred at a different speed [Knaus, 2022]. Altogether, the microclimate and varying porosity caused small variations in the reaction of the water tables on precipitation, evapotranspiration and outflow.

Of the influencing factors on the water table, two factors were identified that lower the water table: temperature and dry days in a row. The negative correlation means that warmer temperatures lower the water table more than colder temperatures. In the previous study in the same study area executed by Marty [2021], no influence of temperature on the water table was found. But Marty [2021] only looked into water table elevations, and not water table lowering events. Because evapotranspiration is stronger during dry periods [Bourgault et al., 2017] and has a lowering effect on the water table, it is clear that Marty [2021] did not find an influence of temperature on the water table. In contrary to the findings of Marty [2021], other studies found an water table lowering influence of temperature [Zarzycki et al., 2020; Słowińska et al., 2010; Bridgham et al., 1999], which is in line with the findings of this examination. A thorough search of the relevant literature yielded only related articles about the influence of temperature but not about dry periods. The effects of dry periods on the water table are further discussed in chpt. 5.3.

Besides the water table lowering effects, factors that rose the water table were analyzed. Precipitation of the day itself (d_i) did not have a significant influence on the water table. Other studies on raised bogs in Poland by Zarzycki et al. [2020] and Słowińska et al. [2010] also found no or low correlation of precipitation d_i with the water table. Słowińska et al. [2010] investigated a higher influence of precipitation at the border of the bog, probably because the peat at the border receives runoff from the surrounding, and therefore was greater influenced by precipitation. In this study, precipitation d_{i-1} had a significant impact on the water table, indicating a delayed influence of the precipitation on the water table in raised bogs in Entlebuch. As well as for the dry period, no comparable studies were found where the influence of precipitation of previous day was investigated.

The previously discussed factors had a significant influence on the water tables of the raised bogs in Entlebuch. However, there exists a considerable disparity between the sites regarding topography, degradation, and coverage. In the following sections, it is more looked into the single sites and their water table behaviour.

Juchmoos

The water tables in Juchmoos were the lowest compared to the other sites. Normally, water tables are mostly around -5 cm [Daniels et al., 2008; Breeuwer et al., 2009], but at Juchmoos most water tables did rarely rise above -9 cm. During dry periods, water tables can sink up to -30 cm, but at Juchmoos, the water table at J3 even dropped to -42.9 cm. This low water tables were mainly caused by the drainage channel, which also caused a gradient in water table height from the lowest at J3, the piezometer the closest to the channel, over J2 in the middle to J1, the furthest away from the channel [Menberu et al., 2016]. J3 and J4 were both close to the drainage channel and their water tables were affected the strongest by it. This was seen in a very low water table, high variation of the water table height and high releases of water per day [Menberu et al., 2016; Price, 2003]. These higher fluctuations caused by the drainage channel induced steeper slopes in the hydrographs, which display quick runoff and high runoff peaks in the streams below [Menberu et al., 2016]. This fast runoff with high runoff peaks could cause downstream floods [Acreman and Holden, 2013], which is the contrary of the expected flood attenuation effect of bogs.

Piezometer J2 was also influenced by the drainage channel, but less than J3 and J4. At J2, the roots of pine trees and bilberry shrubs had probably a larger influence on the water table. They absorb water from greater depth than *Sphagnum* and extract water of micropores [Schouwenaars, 1993]. The woody plants also explain the low variation of the water table at J2. The coverage reduced the access of precipitation to the ground, which caused smaller water infiltration [Zarzycki et al., 2020; Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. The shadow of the vegetation reduced evaporation from the peat surface [Zarzycki et al., 2020]. The combination of the rainfall interception and the shadow reduced water table fluctuations at J2. The vegetation is the main factor controlling the water table, but according to Tembata et al. [2020], coniferous trees do not attenuate floods, indicating that the pine trees at J2 do not prevent floods. However, shrubs attenuate floods [Kong et al., 2022], which implies that the area around J2 prevents floodings. Tembata et al. 2020

In contrary to the piezometer discussed so far, J1 is located in peat with a reasonable good state. However, the average water table of J1 is relatively low with its -8.2 cm compared the findings of Daniels et al. [2008], where 70% of the measured water tables were within 5 cm below the surface. This slightly lower water table could have been caused by the coverage of the deciduous shrub *Frangula alnus*, which has the same effect on the water table and floods as the bilberry shrubs at J2. Because the roots of shrubs are not as deep as the roots of the deep-rooted pine trees, the water table is not lowered as much as at J2.

At Juchmoos, the water table differs between the piezometer. The drainage channel is the main influencing factor on the water tables at J3 and J4 and supports fast runoff, and therefore enhances floods. On the other hand, the water tables at J1 and J2 are mainly influenced by the vegetation, but depending on the type of vegetation, the effect on floods differs.

Rossalp

At Rossalp, the water tables are mainly just below 0, probably because of the acrotelm destruction and soil compaction [Knaus, 2022]. Former trampling of cattle damaged the moss, which led to a destruction of the acrotelm and compaction of the catotelm [Knaus, 2022]. Because

of the compaction, the pores are smaller, and consequently the capillary forces are high and hydraulic conductivity is low. Water is held back in the peat and water flow is impeded [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Consequently, the water table stayed high.

The most remarkable at Rossalp is the large difference of water table fluctuations between R1 and R2, and R3. R1 and R2 had exceedingly high water table fluctuations, whereas R3 fluctuated to a minimal extend. In contrast to the other sites, the acrotelm is missing at Rossalp because of former trampling damage by cattle. It is in the acrotelm, where the water table fluctuates [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013], but because of this missing layer, the fluctuations are reduced to a minimal extent. Furthermore, recolonization of *Sphagnum* at R3 increases the resistance of the surface water flow [Gao et al., 2018]. This in combination with the flat topography lead to impeded water runoff on the surface. The high water table and the low fluctuations in R3 are necessary for the recovery of *Sphagnum*, however, it can take years for the acrotelm to recover, and in some cases, damage is even irreversible [Menberu et al., 2016]. In contrast to the positive effect on the recolonization of *Sphagnum*, the water infiltrates at a low speed and to a minimal extent, which is why the peat around R3 does not attenuate floods.

Not only R3 but also the areas at Rossalp did not have acrotelm. But in contrary to R3, R1 was close to a small natural ditch. Such ditches cause higher fluctuations [Menberu et al., 2016], which was already seen at Juchmoos. The difference with Juchmoos is that the water table at R1 was on average higher, but this is explained by the former trampling of cattle [Knaus, 2022].

Furthermore, piezometer R2 also showed high fluctuations of the water table, even though the soil was trampled. This piezometer was located close to an open water body that is drained by a slope. This adjacent slope facilitated runoff and caused high water table changes. Also this high runoff speed does not attenuate floods.

To conclude, the main influencing factors on the water table and its fluctuations at Rossalp were the degradation by trampling, the natural ditch and an adjacent slope. All factors did not contribute to slower runoff, which is why the raised bog at Rossalp did not attenuate floods.

Salwidili

At Salwidili, the water tables were around the surface. This was expected for a non-degraded bog [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013; Daniels et al., 2008]. Piezometer S3 had compared to the others a low water table. This is mainly explained by the spruce forest nearby. The roots of the spruces extract water from a greater depth compared to *Sphagnum* and draw water that is kept in the peat with a higher tension [Kettridge et al., 2013; Schouwenaars, 1993]. Therefore, they lower the water table to a greater extent than *Sphagnum* [Schouwenaars, 1993; Kettridge et al., 2013; Zarzycki et al., 2020]. But because spruces are shallow-rooted [Catoja, 2021], they do not lower the water table as much as the pine trees at Juchmoos, which are deep-rooted.

Towards the margin of a bog, it es expected to see lower water tables with higher fluctuations [Howie and van Meerveld, 2012]. This was not observed between S2 and S1. It is assumed that the former trampling at S2 overpowered this effect. It namely caused a compaction of the soil and consequently, the water table was higher and the fluctuations lower, as already seen in R3. The compaction caused the same effect as at R3, namely the water infiltrated at a low speed, which is a disadvantage to reduce floods.

For piezometer S4, the open water body and its influx stabilized the water table and reduced its fluctuation [Marty, 2021]. The constant high water table prevented high infiltration rates and caused low water absorption by the peat. However, a high water absorption is crucial to attenuate floods. Overall, there were tree main influencing factors on the water table at Salwidili. This includes the water table lowering effect of spruce trees, the compacted peat because of former trampling, and a constantly high water table because of steady influx. The latter two reduce water infiltration and therefore foster saturation-excess overland flow.

To summarize the water tables and their influencing factors of the raised bogs in Entlebuch, it can be stated that the water tables reacted alike to the weather parameters temperature, amount of dry days in a row and precipitation of d_{i-1} . The water table heights and their fluctuations varied between the piezometer and were influenced by different environmental and man-made factors. Rossalp and Salwidili had generally high water tables in contrast to Juchmoos. At Juchmoos, the water tables were low for a raised bog, which is why the first hypothesis has to be rejected. Additionally, the degradation influenced the water table, but depending on the type of degradation, the water table was influenced in a different way. Only Juchmoos, where degradation was caused by a drainage channel, had a lower water table. Rossalp, which was the degraded bog because of trampling, did not have a lower water table. Not only the water table but also the fluctuations differed between the types of degradation. The drainage ditch caused higher water table fluctuations, while the trampling did the opposite. Therefore, the fourth hypothesis also has to be rejected.

5.2 Precipitation events

5.2.1 Enough space

Next to the general water tables in the bog, it was investigated how the bogs reacted on precipitation. It was first looked into the not-enough-space-events, which occurred for all sites but with different frequencies. The low occurrence at Juchmoos (8%) can be explained by its generally low water tables at all measuring stations caused by the drainage channel and shrub coverage [Menberu et al., 2016; Acreman and Holden, 2013]. At Rossalp, there was not enough space to take up the fallen rain for 53% of the time, mainly triggered by the generally high water table in the bog, caused by the acrotelm destruction and soil compaction because of former trampling [Knaus, 2022]. The even higher water table at Salwidili gave the bog the highest frequency of not-enough-space-events with 69%, which was expected because non-degraded bogs have high water tables [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013; Daniels et al., 2008]. All sites had for all amounts of precipitation at some point not enough space. The reasons differed from site to site, but all are related to the state of the bog.

5.2.2 Water table change with precipitation

At days with precipitation, the water tables rose in some cases more, in some cases less than expected. And sometimes the water table rose more than the precipitation was expected to cause, even though there was not enough space in the soil. In the following section, different explanations are discussed, why the water tables rose more or less than expected.

For 20% of the precipitation events, the water tables of the raised bogs rose higher than expected, mostly for smaller precipitation amounts. This higher rise of the water table could have been caused by water influx from the surrounding, what again means that the bog functioned as a sponge [Acreman and Holden, 2013]. On the other hand, there were some cases, where there was not enough space in the soil to take up all the rain, and the water table still rose more than the precipitation was expected to cause. This was often the case for the sites Rossalp and

Salwidili, probably caused by water accumulation on the peat surface due to the saturation of the soil and low runoff rates. It was expected that water would run off as soon as the water table rose to a larger extent above the peat, this means that the water table would not rise much above 0 cm (up to 5 cm above surface was measured by Daniels et al. [2008]). But at some locations, the water accumulated on the peat instead of running of, causing positive water tables up to 10 cm above to surface. Therefore the water tables rose higher than expected, which caused higher water table rises. Additionally, not only precipitation of d_{i-1} had an influence on the water table but also of d_{i-2} and d_{i-3} , but they were neglected in subsequent calculations. They probably also caused higher water table rises than expected for precipitation of d_{i-1} .

For most precipitation events, the water table rose less than expected for the fallen precipitation. This occurred often at Rossalp and Salwidili. The reason was probably often the already high water table, which led to a fast saturation of the soil. Consequently, saturation-excess overland flow, but also subsurface flow occurred independently of the precipitation intensity [Evans et al., 1999; Daniels et al., 2008; Emili and Price, 2006, which both are the most common outflows of bogs and have a high water flux, whereby the saturation-excess overland flow is clearly faster compared to the subsurface flow [Holden et al., 2008]. This fast water runoff is not in alignment with the expected sponge effect raised bog should have. On the other hand, some water tables rose less than expected, even though there was enough space in the soil. Not saturation, but other water table lowering mechanisms led to a smaller rise than expected. It was often the case for low precipitations that there was enough space but the water table rose less than expected. For days with high temperatures and low precipitation, it was expected that more water evaporates on such days than it rained. Alternatively, other outflow processes could have dominated like infiltration-excess overland flow or pipeflow, whereby the former only occurs with high precipitation intensities [Daniels et al., 2008; Acreman and Holden, 2013]. The former is a rather infrequent assumed process for raised bogs, but causes fast overland water flux, while the latter has an estimated frequency of 10 - 30% [Holden et al., 2001; Daniels et al., 2008; Cunliffe et al., 2013]. For pipeflow, the water is taken up by the soil and runs of in a slower speed than on the surface. Therefore, this mechanisms contributes to a sponge effect of the raised bogs.

However, these numbers should be interpreted with caution, taking into account that this percentages depend on the porosity of the soil, which in turn was assumed to be 0.53 according to the findings of Quinton et al. [2008], but porosity was never measured at the study sites. If the effective porosity was smaller than estimated, the calculated ratio of how many times the bogs acted like a sponge would have been smaller. It would have been the contrary if the effective porosity was larger than assumed.

Not only the expected water table rise was investigated, but also the change of water tables with the length of wet period. The longer the rain period, the smaller the water table change. The slower rise with time can firstly be explained by the higher porosity in the upper part of the soil. Consequently. the higher the water table the slower the rise of the water table [Price and Schlotzhauer, 1999]. Secondly, the higher in the soil the higher the hydraulic conductivity and the more subsurface flow, which leads to a constant lowering of the water table [Holden and Burt, 2003b]. Finally, the high water tables probably led to saturation of the soil, and consequently water table rises were not possible anymore [Acreman and Holden, 2013].

To summarize the reaction of the raised bogs when it rained, it can be stated the sites had different ratios of not-enough-space-events. Juchmoos with a generally low water table often had enough space in contrast to Rossalp and Salwidili. Therefore, the second hypothesis has to be rejected. However, in 1/5 of the precipitation events, the raised bogs took up more precipitation than expected. It was assumed that the bogs took up additional water from the surrounding, and they therefore acted as sponges. For all other days of precipitation, there are several reasons why

the water table rose less than the precipitation would have caused. The reason mainly depended on the antecedent water table. High water tables could have caused that evapotranspiration rates exceeded the amount of precipitation, so the water table rose less than expected. Another reason could have been saturation of the soil and the limited space to take up precipitation, whereby saturation-excess overland flow occurred. Additionally, other outflow processes such us pipeflow or infiltration-excess overland flow caused the lowering of the water table. However, the uncertainty about the porosity should be taken into account. Therefore, it cannot be directly concluded that the bog was not acting as a sponge in these cases and circumstances.

5.3 Water release

After absorbing water of precipitation, the peat bogs release water through evapotranspiration and runoff. Temperature was used to measure the evapotranspiration rate, because it is the main influencing factor [Bridgham et al., 1999; Chen et al., 1999]. Oosterwoud et al. [2017] showed in their study of a raised bog in Estonia that evapotranspiration had a higher influence on the water table than discharge during summer months. However, in this study the water table did not only depend on temperature, but also on the amount of dry days in a row. The longer the dry period the lower the water table, which was also observed by Daniels et al. [2008] in a study in the UK. But the later in a dry period, the less the water table sank. This phenomenon can be explained with the sinking water table and the consequently lower evapotranspiration rates because of the higher capillary forces due to the smaller pores [Słowińska et al., 2010; Bourgault et al., 2017; Kettridge et al., 2013]. Along with that, the hydraulic conductivity is smaller in depth, for which reason the subsurface outflow is reduced with a lower water table [Evans et al., 1999]. In situations with very low water tables, it is even possible that seepage is the only discharge process [Exler, 2015].

How much of the water run off and what the dominant process was, depended on the height of the water table [Daniels et al., 2008; Evans et al., 1999]. High water tables mainly cause high evapotranspiration rates, saturation-excess overland flow and subsurface flow. Lower water tables in contrary have a higher proportion of pipeflow and seepage. Different processes of runoff have different speeds, but overland flow has by far the highest flux [Rydin and Jeglum, 2013]. Therefore, raised bogs release water constantly and with that, the third hypothesis can be accepted.

5.4 Future research

To gain a better understanding of the function of the raised bogs in Entlebuch, further research is of high importance. Additional measurements could improve the understanding of the water balance of the raised bogs. In the following sections, some of them are listed:

In this study, it was only looked into the water table. To understand the complete water household of the raised bogs in Entlebuch, additional measurements should be carried out. The different discharge types and evapotranspiration should be measured to make more precise statements about the release of water. Additionally, the hydrographs of the raised bogs should be compared to a hydrograph of a downstream river to analyse if there are delayed peak flows and reduced peaks.

A second important factor is the infiltration speed of water in the peat. This is namely important to know how fast precipitation infiltrates and if this is a limiting factor for the raised bogs in Entlebuch. In case of low infiltration, water would run off, even though the bog is not completely filled with water. This would be the contrary effect of a sponge. Furthermore, climate change will increase frequency of extreme weather events such as heavy precipitation [Tabari, 2020]. This could mean that the infiltration rate becomes a more limiting factor for water infiltration, and could therefore cause more overland flow.

5.5 Data limitation

To some extent, available data was insufficient or limited to answer the question precisely. The following enumeration includes some of the limitations:

The porosity and storage capacity of the peat were unknown, and assumptions had to be made. For more precise results, the porosity should be identified to calculate the storage capacity. This is essential to calculate the outflow and evaporation [Bourgault et al., 2017]. It is an advantage, to know the porosity of all sites to compare degraded with non-degraded raised bogs.

The weather data station was not exactly in the raised bogs but had a distance of 6 - 9km. It is unclear how precise the weather data described the conditions at the sites.

There are multiple ways in which peatlands alter floods. This includes for example a delayed peak flow, a reduced peak or a decreased runoff volume. Because of their absorption and delayed release of water, it is assumed that they act as a sponge, absorbing water during wet periods and releasing water during dry periods.

In this study, it is found out that the raised bogs in Entlebuch take up water during precipitation. In 20% of the precipitation events, all the amount of rain or even more was absorbed by the raised bogs, indicating that the bogs acted like a sponge. This was mainly the case for low precipitation amounts.

During wet as well as dry days, the raised bogs lost water in form of evapotranspiration or outflow. Which process of outflow dominated depended on environmental as well as man-made factors and the antecedent water table. Different factors determined the water tables and its fluctuations at the different sites. These factors had with their influence on the water tables a direct or indirect effect on floods. The determining processes and their influence on floods are summarized in the following table:

floods, where a neutral (0)	they were observed, and if the factor had effect on floods.	l a positive $(+$), negative
Factor	Mechanism	Piezometer	Flood at- tenuation
Coniferous tree	unknown	J2, S3	0
Ditch	fast and high runoff causes increased peak flow	J3, J4, R1	-
Open water body	The constant high water table results in a low water take up capacity. The soil is rapidly saturated, which leads so saturation-excess overland flow	S4	-
Shrubs	unknown	J1, J2	+

fast runoff causes increased peak flow

Trampling by cattle causes acrotelm destruction and soil compaction. The consequently low hydraulic conductiv-

ity leads to a generally high water ta-

ble, which causes fast saturation of the

excess overland flow occurs

soil.

R2

R1,

R3, S2

_

R2,

Slope

Trampling

Table 6.1: Summary of main water table influencing factors found for the raised bogs in Entlebuch. Observed factors are described with their mechanism of how they influence r

The summary shows, that most factors influencing the water table and its fluctuations do not attenuate floods, they sometimes even have intensifying effects on floods. However, it is important to mention, that some knowledge is still missing to answer the question completely. In this study, it was only looked into the water tables and their reaction on weather variables.

As a consequence, saturation-

This plays an important role in the flood alteration, but to get the whole picture, further research is of high importance. To understand if and how the raised bogs in Entlebuch alter floods, it is especially important to investigate the runoff timing and speed for different weather conditions.

Bibliography

- M. Acreman and J. Holden. How wetlands affect floods. *Wetlands*, 33(5):773–786, 2013. ISSN 02775212. doi: 10.1007/s13157-013-0473-2.
- BAFU Bundesamt für Umwelt. Bundesinventar der Hoch- und Übergangsmoore von nationaler Bedeutung, 2017a.
- BAFU Bundesamt für Umwelt. Moore, 2017b. URL https://www.bafu.admin.ch/bafu/de/home/themen/biodiversitaet/ fachinformationen/massnahmen-zur-erhaltung-und-foerderung-der-biodiversitaet/ oekologische-infrastruktur/biotope-von-nationaler-bedeutung/moore.html.
- Clive W. Beckwith, Andrew J. Baird, and A. Louise Heathwaite. Anisotropy and depth-related heterogeneity of hydraulic conductivity in a bog peat. I: Laboratory measurements. *Hydrological Processes*, 17(1):89–101, jan 2003. ISSN 08856087. doi: 10.1002/HYP.1116.
- K Beven and P Germann. Macropores and water-flow in soils. *Water Resources Research*, 18: 1311–1325, 1982. doi: 10.1029/WR018i005p01311.
- Marc André Bourgault, Marie Larocque, and Michelle Garneau. Quantification of peatland water storage capacity using the water table fluctuation method. *Hydrological Processes*, 31 (5):1184–1195, feb 2017. ISSN 10991085. doi: 10.1002/HYP.11116.
- Angela Breeuwer, Bjorn J.M. Robroek, Juul Limpens, Monique M.P.D. Heijmans, Matthijs G.C. Schouten, and Frank Berendse. Decreased summer water table depth affects peatland vegetation. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 10(4):330–339, jul 2009. ISSN 1439-1791. doi: 10.1016/J.BAAE.2008.05.005.
- Scott D Bridgham, John Pastor, Karen Updegraff, Thomas J Malterer, Kurt Johnson, Cal Harth, and Jiquan Chen. Ecosystem Control over Temperature and Energy Flux in Northern Peatlands. *Ecological Applications*, 9(4):1345–1358, 1999. doi: 10.1890/1051-0761(1999)009[1345:ECOTAE]2.0.CO;2.
- Paul Brotherton. Can natural sponges help defend Europe against floods?, 2021. URL https://europe.wetlands.org/blog/ can-natural-sponges-help-defend-europe-against-floods/.
- A Bullock and M Acreman. The role of wetlands in the hydrological cycle. *Hydrology and earth* system sciences., 7(3):358–389, 2003. ISSN 1027-5606. doi: 10.5194/hess-7-358-2003.
- BUWAL Bundesamt für Umwelt Wald und Landschaft. Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz. 2002.
- Melissa Catoja. Tree mortality in peatbogs in central Switzerland. Master thesis, ETZ Zurich, 2021.
- D. J. Charman. Peat and Peatlands. *Encyclopedia of Inland Waters*, pages 541–548, jan 2009. doi: 10.1016/B978-012370626-3.00061-2.

- Jiquan Chen, Sari C. Saunders, Thomas R. Crow, Robert J. Naiman, Kimberley D. Brosofske, Glenn D. Mroz, Brian L. Brookshire, and Jerry F. Franklin. Microclimate in Forest Ecosystem and Landscape EcologyVariations in local climate can be used to monitor and compare the effects of different management regimes. *BioScience*, 49(4):288–297, apr 1999. ISSN 0006-3568. doi: 10.2307/1313612.
- Jordan Cooley. Wetland Economic Benefits for Landowners, 2015. URL https://valuewetlands.tamu.edu/2015/04/15/wetland-ecological-benefits/.
- Andrew M. Cunliffe, Andy J. Baird, and Joseph Holden. Hydrological hotspots in blanket peatlands: Spatial variation in peat permeability around a natural soil pipe. Water Resources Research, 49(9):5342–5354, sep 2013. ISSN 19447973. doi: 10.1002/WRCR.20435.
- A. W.H. Damman. Hydrology, development, and biogeochemistry of ombrogenous peat bogs with special reference to nutrient relocation in a western Newfoundland bog. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 64(2):384–394, 1986. ISSN 00084026. doi: 10.1139/b86-055.
- S. M. Daniels, C. T. Agnew, T. E.H. Allott, and M. G. Evans. Water table variability and runoff generation in an eroded peatland, South Pennines, UK. *Journal of Hydrology*, 361 (1-2):214–226, oct 2008. ISSN 00221694. doi: 10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2008.07.042.
- Kimberley T. Davis, Solomon Z. Dobrowski, Zachary A. Holden, Philip E. Higuera, and John T. Abatzoglou. Microclimatic buffering in forests of the future: the role of local water balance. *Ecography*, 42(1):1–11, jan 2019. ISSN 16000587. doi: 10.1111/ECOG.03836.
- Lisa A. Emili and Jonathan S. Price. Hydrological processes controlling ground and surface water flow from a hypermaritime forest-peatland complex, Diana Lake Provincial Park, British Columbia, Canada. *Hydrological Processes*, 20(13):2819–2837, aug 2006. ISSN 08856087. doi: 10.1002/HYP.6077.
- EPA United States Environmental Protection Agency. Classification and Types of Wetlands. URL https://www.epa.gov/wetlands/classification-and-types-wetlands.
- M. G. Evans, T. P. Burt, J. Holden, and J. K. Adamson. Runoff generation and water table fluctuations in blanket peat: Evidence from UK data spanning the dry summer of 1995. *Journal of Hydrology*, 221(3-4):141–160, aug 1999. ISSN 00221694. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1694(99)00085-2.
- Martin Evans and Jeff Warburton. Geomorphology of Upland Peat: Erosion, Form and Landscape Change. Wiley-Blackwell, 2010.
- Johannes Exler. Using a non-linear reservoir model to quantify the lateral outflow from a raised bog near Vancouver, Canada. Master thesis, 2015.
- Jihui Gao, Mike Kirkby, and Joseph Holden. The effect of interactions between rainfall patterns and land-cover change on flood peaks in upland peatlands. *Journal of Hydrology*, 567:546–559, dec 2018. ISSN 0022-1694. doi: 10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2018.10.039.
- R. Grayson, J. Holden, and R. Rose. Long-term change in storm hydrographs in response to peatland vegetation change. *Journal of Hydrology*, 389(3-4):336–343, 2010. ISSN 00221694. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.06.012.
- Rob S. Hoag and Jonathan S. Price. The effects of matrix diffusion on solute transport and retardation in undisturbed peat in laboratory columns. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 28(3):193–205, oct 1997. ISSN 01697722. doi: 10.1016/S0169-7722(96)00085-X.

- J. Holden and T. P. Burt. Piping and pipeflow in a deep peat catchment. *Catena*, 48(3): 163–199, jun 2002. ISSN 03418162. doi: 10.1016/S0341-8162(01)00189-8.
- J. Holden and T. P. Burt. Hydrological studies on blanket peat: The significance of the acrotelm-catotelm model. *Journal of Ecology*, 91(1):86–102, 2003a. ISSN 00220477. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2745.2003.00748.x.
- J. Holden, T. P. Burt, and N. J. Cox. Macroporosity and infiltration in blanket peat: The implications of tension disc infiltrometer measurements. *Hydrological Processes*, 15(2): 289–303, feb 2001. ISSN 08856087. doi: 10.1002/HYP.93.
- Joseph Holden. Flow through macropores of different size classes in blanket peat. Journal of Hydrology, 364(3-4):342–348, jan 2009. ISSN 0022-1694. doi: 10.1016/J.JHYDROL.2008.11.010.
- Joseph Holden and Tim P. Burt. Runoff production in blanket peat covered catchments. Water Resources Research, 39(7), 2003b. ISSN 00431397. doi: 10.1029/2002WR001956.
- Joseph Holden, Mike J. Kirkby, Stuart N. Lane, David G. Milledge, Chris J. Brookes, Vincent Holden, and Adrian T. McDonald. Overland flow velocity and roughness properties in peatlands. *Water Resources Research*, 44(6), jun 2008. ISSN 00431397. doi: 10.1029/2007WR006052.
- S. A. Howie and H. J. van Meerveld. Temporal variation in depth to water table and hydrochemistry in three raised bogs and their laggs in coastal British Columbia, Canada. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussion*, 9:14065–14107, 2012. doi: https://doi.org/10.5194/hessd-9-14065-2012.
- IPS International Peatland Society. What are peatlands? URL https://peatlands.org/peatlands/what-are-peatlands.
- IPS International Peatland Society. Ecosystem services, 2010. URL https://peatlands.org/peatlands/ecosystem-services/.
- T. Keane and E. Daly. The balance of water: Present and Future. page 232, 1994.
- N. Kettridge, D. K. Thompson, L. Bombonato, M. R. Turetsky, B. W. Benscoter, and J. M. Waddington. The ecohydrology of forested peatlands: Simulating the effects of tree shading on moss evaporation and species composition. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, 118(2):422–435, jun 2013. ISSN 2169-8961. doi: 10.1002/JGRG.20043.

Florian Knaus. Personal communication, 2022.

Lingqiao Kong, Fei Lu, Enming Rao, and Zhiyun Ouyang. Carbon Sink under Different Carbon Density Levels of Forest and Shrub, a Case in Dongting Lake Basin, China. *Remote Sensing* 2022, Vol. 14, Page 2672, 14(11):2672, jun 2022. ISSN 2072-4292. doi: 10.3390/RS14112672. URL https://www.mdpi.com/2072-4292/14/11/2672/htmhttps: //www.mdpi.com/2072-4292/14/11/2672.

Meinrad Küchler. Moore der Schweiz Zustand, Entwicklung, Regeneration. 2018.

Kyra Marty. Hydrologie von Hochmooren und deren Bedeutung für die Wasserspeicherung. Bachelor thesis, ETH Zurich, 2021.

- J. J. McDonnell. Where does water go when it rains? *Hydrological Processes*, 17(9):1869–1875, 2003. ISSN 08856087.
- Meseret Walle Menberu, Teemu Tahvanainen, Hannu Marttila, Masoud Irannezhad, Anna-Kaisa Ronkanen, Jouni Penttinen, and Bjørn Kløve. Water-table-dependent hydrological changes following peatland forestry drainage and restoration: Analysis of restoration success. *Water Resources Research*, 52:3742–3760, 2016. doi: 10.1002/2015WR018578.

MeteoSchweiz. Klimanormwerte 1991-2020. pages 1-9, 2022. URL https: //www.meteoschweiz.admin.ch/home/klima/klima-der-schweiz/klima-normwerte.html.

- Marieke Oosterwoud, Martine van der Ploeg, Sake van der Schaaf, and Sjoerd van der Zee. Variation in hydrologic connectivity as a result of microtopography explained by discharge to catchment size relationship. *Hydrological Processes*, 31(15):2683–2699, jul 2017. ISSN 10991085. doi: 10.1002/HYP.11164.
- J. S. Price and D. A. Maloney. Hydrology of a patterned bog-fen complex in southeastern Labrador, Canada. Nordic Hydrology, 25(5):313–330, 1994. ISSN 00291277. doi: 10.2166/nh.1994.0011.
- Jonathan S. Price. Role and character of seasonal peat soil deformation on the hydrology of undisturbed and cutover peatlands. *Water Resources Research*, 39(9):1–10, 2003. ISSN 00431397. doi: 10.1029/2002WR001302.
- Jonathan S. Price and Susanne M. Schlotzhauer. Importance of shrinkage and compression in determining water storage changes in peat: The case of a mined peatland. *Hydrological Processes*, 13(16 SPEC. ISS.):2591–2601, 1999. ISSN 08856087. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(199911)13:16<2591::AID-HYP933>3.0.CO;2-E.
- W. L. Quinton, D. M. Gray, and P. Marsh. Subsurface drainage from hummock-covered hillslopes in the arctic tundra. *Journal of Hydrology*, 237(1-2):113–125, 2000. ISSN 00221694. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1694(00)00304-8.
- William L. Quinton, Masaki Hayashi, and Sean K. Carey. Peat hydraulic conductivity in cold regions and its relation to pore size and geometry. *Hydrological Processes*, 22(November 2008):2829–2837, 2008. ISSN 08856087. doi: 10.1002/hyp.
- Vladimir Vasilevich Romanov. *Hydrophysics of bogs*. Israel Program for Scientific Translations, Jerusalem, 1968.
- Hakan Rydin and John K Jeglum. The Biology of Peatlands. Oxford University Press, 15(1): 583–605, 2013. ISSN 18255167. doi: 10.1093/acprof.
- J. M. Schouwenaars. Hydrological differences between bogs and bog-relicts and consequences for bog restoration. *Netherlands-Wetlands*, 265:217–224, 1993. doi: 10.1007/978-94-011-2042-5_11.
- Sandra Słowińska, Michał Słowiński, and Mariusz Lamentowicz. Relationships between local climate and hydrology in Sphagnum mire: Implications for palaeohydrological studies and ecosystem management. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 19(4):779–787, 2010. ISSN 12301485.

Stiftung Wirtschaft und Ökologie SWO. Flach- und hochmoore.

Swisstopo. Map, 2022. URL https://map.geo.admin.ch/.

- Lech W. Szajdak, Adam Jezierski, Kazimiera Wegner, Teresa Meysner, and Marek Szczepanski. Influence of Drainage on Peat Organic Matter : and Transformation. *Molecules*, 2020. doi: https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules25112587.
- Hossein Tabari. Climate change impact on flood and extreme precipitation increases with water availability. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), dec 2020. ISSN 20452322. doi: 10.1038/S41598-020-70816-2.
- Kaori Tembata, Ken'ichi Matsumoto, Masashi Yamamoto, and Yuki Yamamoto. Forest and Floods Mitigation: Evidence from China. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, (January):1–14, 2020. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3515698.
- UN United Nations. Wetlands Action for People and Nature. URL https://www.un.org/en/observances/world-wetlands-day.
- UNEP United Nations Environment Programme. Ecosystem restoration for people, nature and climate. Technical report, 2021a.
- UNEP United Nations Environment Programme. Research reveals a quarter of Europe's peatlands are degraded, ahead of key climate and biodiversity summits, 2021b. URL https://www.unep-wcmc.org/en/news/ research-reveals-a-quarter-of-europes-peatlands-are-degraded--ahead-of-key-climate-and-bio

Beat Von Wyl, Walter Ditl, and Daniele Wenger. Moorschutz und Landwirtschaft. 1995.

- Wetlands International. Types of wetlands. URL https://www.wetlands.org/wetlands/types-of-wetlands-2/.
- R. K. Wieder and D. H. Vitt. Boreal Peatland Ecosystems. 2014. ISBN 9783540319122.
- Jan Zarzycki, Barbara Skowera, and Ewelina Zajac. Microclimate and water conditions of an extracted and natural raised bog. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, 21(7):115–123, oct 2020. ISSN 22998993. doi: 10.12911/22998993/125440.

Appendix A Appendix

A.1 Declaration of originality



Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zurich

Declaration of originality

The signed declaration of originality is a component of every semester paper, Bachelor's thesis, Master's thesis and any other degree paper undertaken during the course of studies, including the respective electronic versions.

Lecturers may also require a declaration of originality for other written papers compiled for their courses.

I hereby confirm that I am the sole author of the written work here enclosed and that I have compiled it in my own words. Parts excepted are corrections of form and content by the supervisor.

Title of work (in block letters):

Flood Alteration of the Raised Bogs in Entlebuch, Switzerland

Authored by (in block letters):

For papers written by groups the names of all authors are required.

Name(s):	First name(s):
De Groote	Justine

With my signature I confirm that

- I have committed none of the forms of plagiarism described in the <u>'Citation etiquette</u>' information sheet.
- I have documented all methods, data and processes truthfully.
- I have not manipulated any data.
- I have mentioned all persons who were significant facilitators of the work.

I am aware that the work may be screened electronically for plagiarism.

Place, date

Zurich, 12.06.2022

Signature(s) e Grack

For papers written by groups the names of all authors are required. Their signatures collectively guarantee the entire content of the written paper.

Figure A.1: Declaration of originality



A.2 Linear Mixed-Effects Model

Figure A.2: (a) QQ-Plot of LME: The QQ-plot of the LME (a) show a linear correlation of the quantiles, indicating a normal distribution of the residuals. The Tukey Ascomb Plot of LME (b) shows the equally dispersed points around 0, indicating a normal distribution of the errors